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CHIEF PICKERING: I can't speak intelligently

to that.

MR. DUNNE: Another question, domestic

violence cases. You heard some testimony today

from people who are concerned about the lack of

training and apparent insensitivity at times of

local justices to domestic violence victims and

their predicaments. Have you encountered that as

a problem?

CHIEF pICKERING: I would say that I believe

Monroe County is above and beyond many surrounding

counties with their reSponse to domestic violence,

both in training for the law enforcement and our

courts with very proactive arrest policies. We

work closely with DVC as do the judges. I don't

think it's a huge problem here. I don't recall

ever in recent years hearing that a judge refused

to issue an order of protection. Usually it's a

no-brainer on a domestic violation situation.

They issue the orders as necessary so I don't know

that necessarily it's a huge problem in Monroe

county. certainly, we have had some issues.

We've addressed them with our officers, and I

wouldn't say that it would hurt to have additional
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training for the justices. Our justices that they

deal with in Webster are very keen and sensitive

to domestic violence issues and we do have the

Integrated Domestic Violence Court in Monroe

County.

MR. DUNNE: Judge fuller?

JUDGE FULLER, Yes. Good afternoon. You

mentioned your office depends on immediate

arraignments, so that if you did not have a

justice there to conduct an arraignment, would

that mean then you would have to have the sheriff

bring the prisoner to the jail without being

arraigned? Or how long can you keep the

prisoner?

CHIEF PICKERING, We can't take a prisoner to

jail without a commitment order, signed by a

judge. So, in essence, if our judges failed to

come in, we would have to hold them until the next

time court was held. If we made an arrest on the

weekend I would tie up officers guarding the

prisoner in the holding cell for the duration of

the weekend. So it would be a real issue for us.

MR. DUNNE: Any other questions? Thanks for

coming in.
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MR. DUNNE, Judge Sciortino.

JUDGE SCIORTINO, Good afternoon, Honorable

Chairman Dunne. I am Michael Sciortino. I'm a

Town Justice in the Town of Parma located here in

Monroe County. It's an honor and a privilege to

have an opportunity to speak to you today

concerning the important issues that are

affecting the town and village courts in New York

State. It has been my sincere pleasure and

privilege to serve my local community and my

state.

In terms of my background, I am 32 years

old. I have served as a town justice since 2001,

when I was 25 years old. I had been a practicing

trial lawyer since that time as well with the

local law firm of Chamberlain, D'Amanda,

Oppenheimer & Greenfield. Moreover, I've had the

pleasure of presiding in this very courtroom as a

Town Judge for the Rochester City Teen Court. I

also act as a City Court Judge here in the City

of Rochester. I'm also an arbitrator with the

Better Business Bureau, a father and a husband.

Now, it's been my experience in meeting with

numerous other town and village justices that we
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take our duties and responsibilities very, very

seriously. When I started my role as Town

Justice in the Town of Parma, as I indicated, I

was 25. I was just out of law school. I had

been working for three months, and I wish I could

say I was working diligently for three months,

but I was working for three months. I was in a

law firm for three months, but I was not licensed

yet to practice law because I was just out of law

school waiting for my results to come in for the

bar exam, waiting for the Fourth Department to

swear me in. I was sworn in in January of 2001

and, certainly, Justice Green, you have a place

in my mother'S heart, sir, as well as mine

because you administered my oath so I could

practice law. And it was right before the

Appellate Division because I couldn't sit as a

town justice without having been sworn in as a

lawyer first, not being able to take the class.

Now, the swearing in for my law practice, the

town justice position happened simultaneously.

We have very dedicated, very qualified

non-lawyer justices who have many years of

experience in their trade; trades you've heard
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today, from military personnel to sheriffs,

troopers, to business people, executives, trades

all across the board. I was fresh out of law

school. You've also heard testimony here today

of lawyers who have practiced law for 25 years,

whether it was in the criminal branch or in the

civil branch. I did not have that benefit. I

was going in fresh, right out of school. I went

from high school to college to law school to the

bench.

Now, I took my position seriously, however.

I was extremely eager. I was nervous. I was

excited. I was uncertain of what was ahead of

me, yet, I greeted this challenge with a smile

and a warm embrace. I read pages and pages of

commentary, pages and pages of law, and it was at

that time that I discovered that in order to be a

lawyer back before the bar exam was at the top of

the list, that's what you had to do, you had to

read pages and pages and pages of law and you had

to devote yourself to those texts on the library

shelves, and I did all that.

I also called courts all across this county,

other town and village courts, and I sat in with



numerous town and village justices in an effort

to learn what it is that a town and village

justice does. I spoke to other judges. I spoke

to other lawyers. I spoke to defendants. I

spoke to the district attorney. I spoke with

various civil litigants. I spoke to my parents.

At one time I even broke down late at night and I

watched a couple of reruns of "Judge Judy." But,

r tell you, my parents who immigrated from

Sicily, my dad came to America with a sixth grade

education and that was it. And I'm proud of my

father. My mother came to America and attended

night school right here in the City of Rochester

at East High School so she could get her high

school diploma as she worked as a seamstress at

Hickey Freeman. I'm very proud of her. They are

proud of me, not for being a town justice, not

for being a lawyer, they are proud of me for

sticking with it even with a challenge ahead of

me, not no knowing what the role contained but

spending the time to learn. And I submit to you

that there are so many non-lawyer justices out

there who have done that. Just because I went to

law school didn't make me qualified for the
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position. I had to learn the role, as many

non-lawyer justices do, as they have and have

successfully. Now, I'm indebted to my parents

for all the advice, of course, that they have

given me, and I'm proud to say that I am part of

a system that dates back to those who immigrated

to this prosperous land from the Dutch colonists,

the English colonists, just as my parents did

from Sicily.

NoW, certainly, Chief Judge Judith Kaye's

Action Plan is an integration of the town and

village courts into the model that I think the

state already has for its state judges.

Certainly, the Action Plan has already

implemented a very important system of

supervising judges, and we have two very

qualified supervising judges here locally in

Monroe County; Judge Alex Renzi and Judge John

Rivoli, who were both, by the way, town justices

themselves prior to their election to the Monroe

County bench. I think that their reaction to the

plan has been fantastic overall. Certainly, it

is a plan that has a long-term effect, and I

think that we are here dedicated, and I think

(

(

(

1

2

,
4

,
,
,
8

9

10

11

12

"
14

"
"
"
18

19

20

21

22

2'

24

2'

JUDGE MICHAEL SCIORTINO 2"



(

(

c

,
,
3

4

,
6

7

,
9

"
n

n

n

"
"
"
"
"
"
"
"
"
23

"
23

JUDGE MICHAEL SCIORTINO 258

that the gallery of town and village justices and

other individuals who are dedicated to their

positions here that came to testify in behalf of

the Action Plan is a very good testament to

that.

Certainly, there could be improvements with

education. And we have heard a lot of

suggestions here today. Instead of being

redundant, I would just ask you to reflect upon

those suggestions. There could also be an

increase in education for our town clerks. Our

court clerks excuse me. Those are really at

the backbone of our judiciary system. Town,

village justice, County Court judge, Supreme

Court, Court of Claims, Appellate Division, Court

of Appeals, we all rely on our court clerks, our

law clerks as well.

Certainly, audits. I don't think anybody

has mentioned any audits here today that I've

heard. Increase in audits, I think would be

beneficial because it would keep the courts in

check, in l'ine, on a repeated basis.

The Judicial Conduct Commission, we've heard

some testimony here today about the Judicial
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Conduct Commission. I'm a fan of the Judicial

Conduct Commission because it does not single out

town and village justices, specifically, those

who are non-lawyers. I submit to you that if you

open any annual report, you will find a large

amount of Superior Court judges who are being

disciplined for various reasons, not just town

and village justice who are non-lawyers.

Now, regarding the lawyer versus non-lawyer

justice issue that has presented itself here

today and all throughout, certainly, when I

started, I wasn't a lawyer. I couldn't rely upon

my prior court experiences and practice as other

lawyers do when they're sworn in; however, what I

was able to rely upon was the patience that the

good Lord gave me to learn, to review the law, to

call, of course, the resource center many, many

times and other courts, other judges. And what

we're asking is that this honorable commission

give the Action Plan the chance it certainly

deserves.

Today, you've heard testimony regarding

numerous areas that could use improvement in our

court system, and I would ask that you look into
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those areas prior to issuing your decision. We

are the courts closest to the people. We

represent those in our community with local

justice. That is what we do and that is what we

look forward to doing on a daily basis. One of

the jUdgES earlier was correct and, also, Chief

Pickering from Webster was correct, that there

are numerous arraignments in the early hours of

the morning. I have done three. I've gone home

each time and been called back three times one

night. And then Justice Frazee, I appeared

before Her Honor at 9,30 a.m. that following

morning. Was I a zombie? Yes. But I'm telling

you, it was something that I signed up for,

something I was willing to do at the time,

something I am still willing to do at the time,

and I'm looking forward to doing at the time

because those defendants are innocent until

proven guilty. We should give them the respect

that they deserve, and in allowing them local

justice, swift justice at all hours of the night,

we shouldn't detain them for longer than

necessary.

Now, keeping in mind with local justice,



just to give you an example, before I take

questions, somebody from my town, for example, if

we shifted gears for a second and went into

either a consolidated town approach joining

numerous towns in one area, all contiguous towns,

or went into a district court approach, somebody

from my town would have to drive, for example, 30

to 45 minutes to get to that court. They would

then get out of the their car; park in the

garage; of course, walk to the courthouse. They

would wait probably another 30 or 45 minutes to

go through the metal detectors. They would then

take an elevator up to the floor. They would

then wait probably another 35 minutes or 40

minutes to an hour to be called for, perhaps,

what would be a two-minute appearance. They

would then leave the building; walk back to their

carl get in their car; pay $7.001 drive 30 to 45

minutes back home, for two minutes. If it was in

my court, they would drive one to three miles;

three to six minutes in the car; parking is free I

the court appearance would still be two minutes.

They would have that sense of feeling of local

justice as they were driving home, and that's

(

(

(

1

2

,
,
5

5

,
8

,
10

11

12

"
"
15

15

"
18

"
20

21

22

2'

2'

25

JUDGE MICHAEL SCIORTINO 251



what I ask for you to consider.

Thank you all for your time today. Thank

you all for the summer of Commission hearings.

We welcome you to Monroe County on behalf of the

Monroe County Magistrates Association which I

serve as Vice President.

Any questions?

MR. DUNNE: Any questions for Judge

Sciortino?

Thanks very much.

JUDGE BROCKWAY: Good afternoon. I see at

least one familiar face up there. Okay. I think

Judge Lack was on the Senate Commission, of

course, as Chairman of the Senate Committee that

approved my confirmation about seven and a half

years ago.

But, Mr. Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen of

the Commission, it is a pleasure and, indeed, an

honor to present testimony this afternoon to the

Commission. Your work and your recommendations

will be historically significant. To give you

some background for those of you who don't know

me, I'm in the eighth year of serving as the

full-time Chemung County Family Court Judge. And
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before offering my opinion on the justice court

proposals, I want to give you some further

background. I served five years as Chemung

County first full-time assistant public defender

from 1975 to 1980. I was also honored to serve

as a part-time village judge in Horseheads for 20

years. I served as a town and village attorney

for a number of municipalities in both Chemung

and Schuyler Counties. As an attorney in both

public and private practice, I enjoyed many

hundreds of opportunities to appear before dozens

of justice courts. And for the past four years,

I've been an adjunct SUNY professor at Corning

Community College. I've served several terms as

president of the Chemung-Schuyler Magistrates

Association, which Judge Fuller had the pleasure

of visiting earlier this year. I have served as

vice president of the New York State Magistrates

on several occasions and I'm slated to become the

President of the Association of Judges of the

Family Courts of the State of New York in about

two weeks. Additionally, I have taught town and

village judges, both locally and regionally, for

some 20 years. I've been the editor of the State

(

(

(

,
2

,
,
5

5

,
8

,

"
11

"
11

"
l1

"
l1

'8

"
20

"
22

22

"
25

JUDGE MICf1AEL SCIORTINO '"



Magistrates journal and I did that for about 10

years, and I've compiled and published what's

called Brockway's Bench Book for Local Courts,

which sits on many benches throughout the State.

In other words, I think I have some familiarity

with the court system, both locally and,

certainly, now on the state level and I've had

the pleasure of working in the trenches of each.

Let me say this unequivocally -- and I know

this contradicts some of the testimony. I went

through some of the testimony that's on the web

page from Albany -- and it's not something you've

heard perhaps from others, but despite and

contrary to the recommendations you've heard for

wholesale reform, New York's local justice system

is not broken. And it certainly needs not be

abolished. And with all due regard to the

members of this Commission and to my profession,

it should not be restricted only to attorneys

serving as justices. For more than 200 years,

our local court system of city, town, village

courts has functioned well. It has done so

relatively inexpensively and with fairness.

Although there have recently been a number of
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horror stories, as you are obviously aware,

regarding a few non-lawyer justices in the town

and village courts, one unfortunately need only

turn a page or two in any of the annual reports

of the Judicial Conduct Commission to see other

judicial misconduct by those who are part of the

so-called learned bench, those with law degrees.

And, frankly, in my calculations, those numbers

are higher than those involving town and village

justices.

Our town and village judges, and I know you

have heard, and that includes lawyers and

non-lawyers alike, are among the most dedicated

group of people I have ever had the pleasure of

meeting or working with. In large measure, as

you know, they assume their roles as a matter of

civic pride and duty, not to further their

careers and, certainly, not to accumulate

wealth. These judges are the ones who are

available all hours of the day, the night, the

weekend to ensure that the accused is brought

before an impartial magistrate before further

proceedings. You do not have this availability

with County, Supreme, City Court lawyer judges



and you'll surely not have it with state-run,

centralized district court lawyer judges either.

You don't have it with Family Court judges,

although I've made it an exception the last

almost eight years to come out and do Family

Court arraignments in Chemung County. But, those

charged in the latter lawyer judge courts are

simply jailed until the evening or the long

weekend is over. The town and village judges are

also the judges who are held accountable for

their actions by the electorate in their very own

communities every four years. I might also add

that as an attorney, I, as often as not, prefer

to practice before a non-lawyer justice. They

were frequently the ones most current on the

latest law; the ones who actually listened at the

seminars that I have taught or attended; and the

ones who often times had a better grasp of common

sense of their communities than their colleagues

with law degrees.

One need not throw out the proverbial baby

out with the bath water to answer the concerns of

the critics of these courts. And I laud the

Office of Court Administration in providing more
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training, more technical aid and more auditing

assistance. I think those are the three areas

you've heard about, primarily. These measures

will have a significant impact on improving both

the quality and the perception of justice that is

meted out by these courts closest to the people.

Now, District Court advocates need to

appreciate the difficulty which would likely be

created for upstate citizenry in having to travel

many dozens of miles to their county's so-called

local district court, and these district courts,

by the way, would be courts over which the people

would have far less control and the judges less

accountability because they would only be

elected, I assume, 10 years instead of every four

years, which is now the case with the town and

village judges. Additionally, fiscal

conservatives need only study the huge

bureaucracy and tax burden that was created by

the District Courts on Long Island and the

state's takeover of county, family, surrogate and

city courts some 30 years ago and what, frankly,

has been wrought in that bureaucracy in the

meantime. The elimination of town and village
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courts would repeat the same mistakes of the(
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I'm going to get a little philosophical.

231 years ago, following close to 100 years of

ever-decreasing local control, our forefathers

declared independence from an autocratic,

centralized government which had come to be

administered by elitists and monarchists. It was

a government which had grown unresponsive and

unaccountable to the people and their local needs

and concerns. Indeed, I submit to you that our

State Constitution's requirement for a referendum

of the townspeople before a town court can be

eliminated, harkens back to those very same

concerns. And it should send those of us in the

21st Century a very clear message, I would

think.

Bit by bit, one could argue that we are

reconstructing that which the patriots so nobly

fought against those many years ago. To deny the

people local control over their own courts and

their own judges is far more important to our

democracy than are isolated instances of

misjudgment. And those misjudgments, frankly,



like those of their legally-trained counterparts,

are appropriately handled by way of the Judicial

conduct Commission, the appellate process and, of

course, by the electorate itself. As a whole,

our town and village courts are a fine, efficient

and economical part of the third branch of

government. And except for the provision of

further assistance, as set forth in the Action

Plan, which I certainly encourage you to give a

shot to, those courts should stay that way.

And I'd certainly welcome any questions any

of you may have.

MR. DUNNE: Questions for Judge Brockway?

Thanks for coming.

I understand that Gregory Franklin is here.

MR. FRANKLIN: My name is Gregory Franklin.

I'm actually not going to talk about justice

courts. I had understood that this was a more

general Court Administration panel. So before I

start my very brief remarks, I want to know if

anyone would like to entertain any sort of

general administrative court reform measures or

whether the panel solely is about justice

courts?
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MR. DUNNE: The panel is about justice

courts, but since we're running ahead of

ourselves, if you have bright ideas on other

subjects we'll listen to them for a while.

MR. FRANKLIN: That puts quite a burden on

me. Actually, my thoughts really were to be

able, better able to communicate between the

courts and attorneys. One of the things that we

find, that practitioners find very frustrating

and, actually, let me take a step back. I've

practiced primarily in Family Court. Most of my

practice is Family Court matters and adoptions,

and I'm a member of the firm of Ashcraft,

Franklin & Young. One of the things that

practitioners find very frustrating, not only in

Family Court but the other courts as well, is

lack of communication as far as scheduling and

juggling calendars when matters are being

rescheduled from one court to another or from one

day to another in the mail. We'll get notices in

the mail and I'll show up and have matters get

adjourned. And I would urge that the

technologies we all utilize, e-mail or internet,

where courts can post their dockets on-line,
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which is not done except by a couple judges, one

who may be present this afternoon, where if a

matter needs to be rescheduled or adjourned, have

the court or court staff send out e-mails to

counsel to see that they're available on certain

dates rather than spending days, weeks or months

in trying to reschedule matters and often

unsuccessfully.

Another question has to do with how judges

manage their dockets, and too many courts,

including justice courts, will schedule their

dockets all at the same time, at 9,00, at 4:00,

at 5:00, frequently, requiring people to spend

hours and hours waiting for cases to be called.

It is hardly an efficient use of attorneys'

time. I've had clients actually who have been

fired from jobs because they have had to make too

many court appearances and spend too many hours

and hours waiting for a two-minute appearance

only to be rescheduled for another day. And I

would strongly suggest that calendars be

staggered and this be mandated as much as

possible throughout the state, calendars be

staggered so that there be a 9:00 appearance, a



,
,
3

,
;

6

,
8

9

W

n

"
"C "
"
"
n

"
"
"
"
"
"
"
"(

GREGORY FRANKLIN 272

9:30 appearance, a 4 :30 or 5:00, whatever, ao

that people do nor have ro spend literally three

and four hours waiting for cases to be called.

r had a few more matters of embellishment,

bur these, frankly, are rhe issues that r wanted

to suggest to the panel. Whether they're bright,

ideas or not, I don't know. r leave that to

brighter minds than mine.

MR. DUNNE: Any questions or comments of Mr.

Franklin?

JUSTICE SWEENEY: Is this something you

would bring up with the Administrative Judge in

Monroe County?

MR. FRANKLIN: It is something I've actually

brought up with a number of the administrative

judges over time. But this is county-to-county.

I think this is more pervasive through multiple

counties. I basically practice, literally, from

Syracuse and into the Southern Tier, and the

scheduling issues and even the docketing issues,

really, I would say, are universal.

MR. DUNNE: Anything else?

Thanks for coming in.

MR. FRANKLIN, Thank you for the



far?

JUDGE HIGGINS: It's been quite

interesting. It's sometimes frustrating, but for

the most part, very interesting.

I'd like to start off by saying that I'm

proud and honored to be a lay town justice. I

opportunity.

MR. DUNNE: We are again at this point

pretty well ahead of schedule and, indeed, we

have a couple of witnesses who did not appear

this morning who at this point we're not

expecting, I suppose. Then we have just one

witness scheduled for a bit later who we'll give

some time to arrive.

In the meantime, is there anyone else in the

audience who would like to speak and hasn't had

an opportunity to do so? Sir, in the back.

Judge Higgins.

JUDGE HIGGINS, Thank you for allowing me

the opportunity to speak. I, as you can tell

from my casual attire, it was not my intention to

come here and speak today but to come and

observe, listen and learn.

MR. DUNNE: How do you like the show so
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have been such for nay on 23 years now. My

background, just to give you a little bit of

where I come from, what I do, I had an

Associate's degree from Cobleskill in accounting;

a bachelor's degree from RIT in accounting; then

I proceeded to complete 23 years of financial

work at Xerox, followed by another 11 years of

procurement contracting, and concluded my career

back in 1998. I also possess a CPM degree, not

an accounting degree, as it turned out. My

comments are kind of focused on the individual,

the facilities and then some general comments.

The first thing, obviously, is education.

We need lots of education. Right now, we get 12

hours a year. Any judge who is worth their worth

in our court system is doing more than 12 hours.

I know, I think I have close to 40 hours right

now myself, and I'm sure there's many other town

justices in this state who have similar stories

they could share. But, I believe that we need to

upgrade the number of hours and especially the

more personal attention to the education, the

more that can be done close to a one-an-one.

It's like dealing with class size and education.
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You don't want to get over 25 students because

then it starts to get very diluted. You want to

try to stay 25 or less. If you get up and you

have 40, 50, 60 people in a room, you're bucking

a bronco at that point in time, and I think that

to the extent that we could reduce the size of

the classes and allow for a little bit more

personal education would help.

The other qualification, I think, that needs

to be addressed strongly, and that's right now,

anybody asks me what are your qualifications to

be a judge. Well, I'm over 18 and I've been more

than 30 days a resident. That's the only

qualification we're required to have currently.

I think those qualifications need to be changed

to be more -- to cover more aspects of what it is

that we need. There needs to be more wisdom, I

think, than an lS-year-old possesses to sit on

the bench. Most importantly, I think it's the

integrity, fairness and honesty of the respective

judges. I find that that works I am working

on that side of the coin more often than I am

going through what cites do I need, what case law

do I need. It's more a factor of opinion. It's
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not that I throw the law out, by the way.

There was some comment earlier on ex parte

conversations, and, quite honestly, I've heard

stories myself where police officers would use

judges' chambers for, let's say, lunch or

breakfast or doughnuts and coffee and general

get-together or they would be there talking to

the judge beforehand. I think that, at least in

our area, is something that has gone by the board

many, many years ago.

I saw when I first came on the bench, I had

trouble keeping officers out of my chambers, and

I do have the luxury of having a bailiff. I told

him, you don't let any officers in my chambers

when I'm in this courtroom. They stay out. And

we have adhered to that, and I think there are

some general rules that need to be reinforced

constantly with the town judges justices.

One of the other training things that I

think is really lacking is the county magistrates

meetings. There's a perfect opportunity for

training and, quite often at our magistrates

meetings, there is good training that goes on.

As of late, we are actually getting credit hours



c

,
,
,
,
5

,
,
,
,
"
"
"
"
"
'5

"
"
"
"
"
"
"
",.
'5

JUDGE REGINALD HIGGINS 277

towards that as well. But the attendance at the

county magistrates meetings is dismal. I mean,

we see a small percentage of the total number of

justices in our county attending those. There's

some, I couldn't even tell you who they are

because I've never seen them. But that would be

one of the things that could help to improve the

education of the judges.

In terms of facilities, my town has been

very good to us. We're provided with our own

courtroom; we're provided with a bailiff. He's

not an armed bailiff, he more handles the

administrative but, nevertheless, he is in

uniform. He is in a uniform and he does lend an

air of decorum to the court and is able to

maintain a very quiet courtroom.

We have just increased from one and a half

court clerks to two court clerks actually, we

have three court clerks, but two of them are

part-time. And they're working back-to-back.

We have excellent computer facilities which

have been provided to us primarily from the state

grants that we've availed ourselves of. And

there's other courts that I've talked to that
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they don't even know that the grants exist. HOw

that's possible, r don't know. Apparently,

they're not keeping very well educated and not

reading The Magistrate or anythingf not doing

much extracurricular reading, but those are

things that also need to be done.

We currently have a seating problem. We

have all movable chairs, and our occupancy has

just been reduced to 30 people that we can have

in our room, whereby when we add fixed seating we

can go up to 75 because the courtrooms require a

higher number or a higher amount of space for

each individual in the courtroom.

Concerning trials in ADA courts, ADA being

our primary disposition calendar, pleading

calendar, I have a court reporter and so does my

associate at all of those sessions. The only

time that we do not have a court reporter present

is when we are doing arraignments.

In the area of the training, though, and one

of the things I think is, I don't know how you're

going to get around it, is the individuals who

are in areas where there is small volumes of

business. We're currently, I think we're 201



ranking in the state right now as far as revenue

brought in. But the courts that are way down on

the other end of the spectrum, I've always found

that either "use it or you lose it." you can

train them on something, but if they're not using

it on a regular basis, they're going to lose that

experience. The only thing that you can work

with is you can have the resource material laid

out in a manner which, it's easy, I get a small

claims, ah, I pull that book out and I've got the

procedure right in front of me as to what I'm

supposed to do for those type of courts. The

same with any criminal. I handle almost all of

the civil work for our court and I do a lot of

summary proceedings. I have landlords that are

coming in front of me and they seem to think that

it works like Small Claims court. It does not

work that way. They're held to the letter of the

law, what the requirements are for the petition,

for the evictions and summons and everything

else. I mean, if you have a summary court book,

you pull it out, this is the process, these are

the requirements, it should be very easy for the

judges to follow. All it takes is, in my case, a
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pair of glasses and a book.

I think one thing that is extremely

important is mandatory court clerk training .

Some of the training that has gone on in the

past, which is voluntarily being done, and some

of the individual sessions throughout the state,

I've noticed that the court clerk training is not

on there in some cases. I believe Seneca County,

the one down in Seneca that -- excuse me -­

Geneva, where they had the court clerk training

before. This last session, I don't believe they

had any court clerk training -- at least that's

what my clerk told me. But, again, we have a

good town; they provide the transportation and

the lodging so that we can take them to either

Potsdam or to the annual convention to get

training.

I went through nine elections thus far and

have been successful each time, and the last time

it was against an attorney. That was kind of my

crowning glory when I actually felt that they

thought more of me than they did with putting an

attorney in the Court.

And that brings me to my, I think, my
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closing comment. possessing a law degree will

not make a good judge. The character of the

person will. I've observed many civil attorneys

practicing criminal cases in front of me and some

criminal attorneys practicing civil cases in

front of me, and in both of these situations, I

felt sorry for the defendant or the petitioner or

the respondent because I felt that they have been

ill-used for that particular case. It works both

ways. It's not only the judges, but it's also

the attorneys that are practicing in front of the

judges and the prosecutors who are practicing in

front of the judges. Unless you have all three

pieces working efficiently together, it's not

going to be as good as it could be. But I think

we have an excellent system in the state right

now.

Thank you. Any questions?

MR. DUNNE: Thank you, Judge. I have a

question.

Judge, you mentioned possibly that

qualifications should be changed and

strengthened. Do you have any particular

recommendations as to what could be done in that
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regard, the qualifications for judges beyond the

18 years old and the resident of the

jurisdiction?

JUDGE HIGGINS, I think it should be

somebody that is older. I don't know what that,

necessarily, what that age is.

MR. DUNNE, Probably a relative term?

JUDGE HIGGINS: It's a relative term,

exactly. I think, what is it in the senate, you

have to be 30-something in order to be able to

seek election as a senator in the United States?

There's nothing that says a similar thing

couldn't be done for the judges.

MR. DUNNE, Judge Wolfe.

JUDGE WOLFE, My question was along the same

line. You did mention the over-IS and the 30

days a resident. You went on to mention wisdom,

fairness and integrity. If you have some way of

measuring that or quantifying that, I think that

would be really fantastic, but I doubt,

seriously, that there'S any way to really

quantify those items.

JUDGE HIGGINS: I think the people that

quantify that are the people that elect us. They
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know who we are or should because I think I heard

someone earlier, I know I heard someone earlier

in the day saying, the judges get into their

position because they go around and they knock on

everyone's door and they talk to them. They have

a knowledge of who they are. The movement of our

society is going on. I mean, that becomes a

little bit tougher. But nevertheless, I probablY

beat on at least a thousand doors at the last

election and I'm in several community service

organizations; Masons, Rotary. So, I know a lot

of people as well. And I think the characters of

the individuals can be determined by what it is

that they've done up to that point in time. If

it's the first thing you do in life is come out

to be a town judge, I don't know that I'm going

to vote for you.

JUDGE WOLFE: I know we both served on

school boards together, we both went through some

fairly difficult times on the school board. Do

you think some other level of community service

would be a prerequisite?

JUDGE EIGGINS: I think that would be

helpful, and I don't necessarily know that I
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would restrict it to any particular thing, but I

think some form of community involvement. A

certain level of education probably wouldn't hurt

as well. Now, I hesitate to say that one,

though, because I know a number of town justices

who have nothing mare than a high school

education. In fact, I know one who doesn't have

that. And they come from a farming community and

they're damn good judges. I'd be more than happy

to be a defendant in front of them any time

noe them knowing that , wo. 0 judge, obviously.

MR. DUNNE , Judge, one thing , 'm noe clear

sa our record i. clear - - oon you repeat Che

town and county?

JUDGE HIGGINS, I'm Town of Ontario, Wayne

County.

MR. DUNNE, Judge Fuller.

JUDGE FULLER, Yes. Do you think there

should be any educational requirements?

JUDGE HIGGINS: Yes, I do. Right now, what

are our educational requirements? They have to

complete a 40-hour course.

JUDGE FULLER: I'm saying before you're

elected should you have first gone through a
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certain level of high school or college?

JUDGE HIGGINS: I defer this one simply

because I do know of one individual that didn't

have a high school education and he's a hell of a

judge, to put it bluntly. But, I firmly believe

in this day and age that to not have a minimum of

a high school education, they shouldn't be

sitting, as a rule. I'm not suggesting that any

of them that are out there today that we say,

we're done with you because you don't have a high

school education, because they probably more than

earned that at this point in time. I will put up

the training that I have over my 23 years up with

any attorney that's coming out of law school

right now.

MR. DUNNE: Judge Frazee.

JUSTICE FRAZEE: You talk about minimum age

requirements. What about on the other end of the

spectrum, the state judges, for the most part,

other than Supreme Court have an age 70

retirement requirement. I don't believe there'S

any age requirement for the state and village

justices. Do you have any opinion about that?

JUDGE HIGGINS, There isn't one. I know my



the other court, the other judge in our court

is retiring this year and she's 75. So, I would

suggest that it doesn't exist today. But, I

don't know that there's necessarily an age when

an individual is not able to make good and wise

decisions. I think it depends on the

individual. Do most people lose that ability at

70 years old? Boy, I'm not going around saying

that.

MR. DUNNE: Do you have a question for Judge

Higgins?

Thanks for coming in.

JUDGE HIGGINS: Thank you.

MR. DUNNE: Just to repeat. We're waiting

on at least one more witness. Why don't we take

a break. We're going to take a break for about

five minutes to see if we can locate the witness

to make sure we're not leaving anybody out. So

we'll try to reconvene either in five minutes or

as soon as the other witness appears.

Thank you.

(A recess was had in the proceedings.)

MR. DUNNE' The last witness slot has now

come and gone. It's about 4,42. All of the
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witnesses who had been scheduled to testify have

shown up and testified, which we've actually

taken two or three additional people from the

waiting list as well throughout the day. As I

mentioned earlier, there's one final witness who

has not appeared. We waited for the final slot.

We've asked him to show up a half hour ahead of

that. He has not done so. In addition, we left

him a message earlier in the afternoon and

explained that we're running ahead. And since

that person has not appeared, at this point,

we're going to adjourn.

Is there anyone else in the room who has

anything further to say by way of testimony? I

think we've taken everyone who has expressed such

an interest today. We'll just make one last

offer. Anybody else who would like to speak?

JUDGE SCIORTINO: Mr. Chairman, not to add

any testimony, but, once again, to thank you all

for coming out and your staff as well who have

joined you here.

MR. DUNNE: Thank you. And I'd like to

thank the Office of Court Administration and its

staff and the security people and everyone else



288

here in Rochester and the district who have

helped to set this last hearing up. It's been

very, very well-organized by them and we

appreciate it. Thank you very much.

(The proceedings recessed at 4:45 p.m.)
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